Order 2004-2-20

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY
WASHINGTON, D.C.

Issued by the Tepartnent of Transportation
on the 24th day of February, 2004

SERVED: February 24, 2004

Complaint of

LYN-LEA TRAVEL CORP. d/b/a
FIRST CLASS INTERNATIONAL
TRAVEL MANAGEMENT

Against Docket OST-98-3963

AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC. and
THE SABRE GROUP, INC.

for violations of 14 CFR Part 255 and
49 U.S.C. §41712

ORDER

By this order the Departnent of Transportation ("the Departnent")
dismsses the conplaint of Lyn-Lea Travel Corp. d/b/a First ass
International Travel Mnagenent ("First dass") against Anerican
Arlines, Inc. ("Amwrican') and The SABRE Goup ("Sabre"), the Conputer
Reservation System ("(5") controlled by American at the tine relevant

to the conplaint.] The Departnent also grants the mnotion for
confidential treatnent of certain proprietary and conmercially sensitive
information filed by American and Sabre.

The Complaint

1 thtil 1996, Sabre was a wholly-owned subsidiary of AWM
(orporation, the parent conpany of Amrican. Dring that year, AW
divested 18 percent of Sabre to the public. A of Mrch 2000, Sabre
becane 100 percent publicly held.



First (Qass alleges violations of 49 US.C §41712 and 14 (FR Part 255
by American and Sabre and seeks a formal enforcenent proceeding,
danages, punitive danmages, a declaration that Amrican and Sabre
violated federal law and an injunction against future violations.

A. Alleged Facts

First (Qass alleges that it served as an agent for Anerican, which for
nost of the relevant tine period was legally the sane entity as Sabre,
and had a positive relationship wth that carrier from1983, when First
dass began operating, until 1996. From 1991 until 1996, First ass
received significant commission override paynents and "waivers and

favors"2 fromAmerican. First dass was not subscribing to Sabre during
this period.

According to First dass, Anerican tried to persuade favored conmercial
custoners to swtch fromnon-Sabre agencies to Sabre agencies and would
do all it could to keep accounts at Sabre agencies.

The souring of the relationship between Anerican and First dass began
in 1994, First dass clains, when it decided to buy a conpetitor, Air-O
Travel ("Air-O), owed by Mry Earhart ("Earhart"). Ar-Q a Sabre
subscriber had significant tine left on its Sabre agreenent. Largely
due to Anerican's promises of benefits if First ass had Sabre, First
dass decided to try Sabre as a secondary (5. First (ass inforned
American that it wanted only a limited conmitnent to Sabre because it
had signed a new (S agreenent wth Wrldspan the previous sunmer that
it did not vant to break.

First ass signed a Sabre subscriber agreenent in [ecember 1994. The
agreenent contained what First ass characterizes as a liquidated
danages clause:  First (dass had to use Sabre for at least 1,200
transactions a nonth (300 per ternminal) or it would have to pay Anerican
a fixed anount based on future lost bookings. Ar-O was naking 4,000
bookings a nonth and First dass was booking 7,000 to 8,000 segnents a
nonth on Wrldspan, so First ass did not anticipate any problens.

2 According to First (dass, a "waiver" is an agreenent not to
enforce restrictions on a particular fare, and "favors" are free
tickets, first class upgrades, novie and ticket vouchers, etc.



Six weeks into the agreenent, Anerican changed its commission structure
fromten percent of the fare to a cap of $25.00 each vay for donestic
fares. This change caused an inmediate 25 percent drop in First ass's
incone. Anmerican did not informFirst dass during the negotiations for
the Sabre contract that it was considering reducing the donestic
commissions, and First dass contends that if it had had that
information, it would not have been wlling to assune the personnel and
other overhead costs of operating two (OGs simultaneously. /A a result
of the commssion change, First (Jass maintains, it had to cut costs.
It asked enployees to take voluntary layoffs, charged sone custoners
fees, and “closed its Southwest desk.” After several nonths, First
dass cut back onits use of Sabre terminals.

First dass alleges that in Novenber or [ecenber of 1994, and again in
Angust of 1995, American representatives told First (dass that if it did
not make any Sabre bookings, it would owe $1,000 to $1,200 per nonth.
h Mrch 1, 1996, First dass received an invoice from Anerican for
$20,794.63 for six nonths” use of Sabre wthout neeting the nini num
contractual booking requirenents. That invoice was followed by another
on April 1, 1996, showing the sane anount due, an April 18th letter from
American demandi ng $20,982.02, an increase of $187.39, and a My 10th
letter confirming that the reason for the bill was First dass's failure
to satisfy the fixed nonthly di scount booking level.

First (Qass states that it offered to neet the mininmumlevels on Sabre
wth a six-nonth extension on the terns of the Sabre agreenent, but
Anerican refused the offer. Anerican disconnected Sabre in md-My 1996
when First dass did not pay. In June, Anerican demanded $94, 949.03
exclusive of interest and attorneys' fees, which included $72,240.00 in
estimated future lost booking fees pursuant to what First ass
characterizes as the liquidated damages clause of the agreenent.
Anerican stated in a letter that it would consider reinstating the Sabre
agreenent after First ass paid the entire anount.

Aerican then began what First dass characterizes as tortious
interference wth First ass's relationships wth Earhart and several
of its best custoners. In early 1997, First (dass obtained business
from MY Systens ("MN") and entered into a witten exclusive booking
agreenent wth MY for a two-year term M already had a discount
agreenent wth Anerican that required the use of Sabre, but First (ass



no longer had Sabre. MY and First dass asked Anerican to waive the
Sabre booking agreenent. Ater a delay of several nonths, Anerican
refused without explanation, although Anerican had previously waived the
Sabre requirenent in other cases.

According to First dass, American then allowed a Sabre agency to steal
First dass client Mndoza Ollon via a "waivers and favors" deal. The
other agency could buy tickets for Mndoza llon for less than First
dass or other agencies wthout a special relationship with Anerican and
Sabre. /% a result, First (ass lost an exclusive booking agreenent
with Mndoza O1lon

First ass states that when it bought Air-Q it hired Earhart, but she
left in January 1996, hired a lawyer, and was considering litigation
First dass and Earhart reached a settlenent of their differences in
July 1996. First dass clains that it later learned that in Mrch 1996,
Earhart had already contacted Anerican and had received its assistance
and encouragenent in her efforts to take First dass clients and go to a
Sabre agency. First ass's enploynent contract with Earhart included a
non-conpete clause, as First (ass alleges is standard practice in the
industry when soneone buys an agency to get new business. First ass
clains that after neeting wth American, Earhart took several First
dass clients to an agency that used Sabre, including the largest client
First (dass got when it bought Ar-Q Sensornedics, wth which First
dass had an excl usive booking agreenent.

In July 1997, First dass lost the entire business of Hundai Mtors,
another large corporate custoner that had an exclusive booking agreenent
with First dass. Amrican approached Hundai without First ass's
know edge, according to the latter, and offered a corporate discount
programrequiring the use of Sabre. First (dass could not book using
Sabre, so it lost Hundai to a Sabre agency.

B. Alleged Violations of Law

First dass alleges that what it characterizes as the liquidated damages
provision in the Sabre agreenent is unenforceable because it violates 14
(FR §255.8(b), which provides that "[n]Jo system mnay directly or
indirectly inpede a subscriber fromobtaining or using another system
Aong other things, no subscriber contract or contract offer may require
the subscriber to use a systemfor a mni numvol une of transactions."



First ass also alleges that the provision is unenforceable because it
violates Sabre's promise to the [partnent in Dbcket 48808 to substitute
an actual damages provision for its liquidated damages provision in all
of its Sabre agreenents, unless a subscriber requested the liquidated
danages provision

According to the conplaint, the provision in the Sabre agreenent at
issue (“Section 5”) provides as follows:

IF dSTOMR DES NOI' AHEVE 100. 00% (F THE FIXED MNHY
OSCN BAKING LEVEL, A STAIED IN 3) A ABOE, FR AY
MASIREMNI PERICD)  AMERI CAN WIL FARCE ASTOMER AN AMOLNT
EQUAL TO THE PREVA LI NG BAKING FEE THAT' AMERI CAN FARAES TO
ARINS THAT PARITAPATE IN THE FUL AVALABILITY FEATURES
& SABRE MLTIPLIED BY THE D FFERENE BEIVWEN THE FIXED
MNHY OSCN BAKING LEVEL IN3) A ABOE AND THE ATUAL
SABRE BAKING LEVEL, MLIIPLIED FURTHER BY THE TOAL NLMBER
(F PRODUCITVE MIEO AENT SEIS AND M EO AENI' SET' TERMNAL
ATRESS AT THE PSEUD ATY COE ITENITFIED ON PAE ONE (F
THS SGEDUE A AND MLIIPLIED BY THE NIMBER (F MINITH IN
THE MEASIREMENI' PERI()  HOMVER  AMERICAN AREES THAT A5
LONG A5 ABTAOMER PRAESSES AN AVERAE (F 100 SABRE BAKI NGB
PER M EO AENI SET AND VITHO AENI' SET TERMNAL AITRESS PER
MNH DRING THE MEASIREMENI PERI() THE MXIMM AMOLNT
ARED WLL NOU EXCEED THE TOFAL FIXED MNIHLY O SCONT A5
STATEDIN3) A ABOVE, MLTIPLIED BY THE NIMBER (F MINITH IN
THE MEASTREMENI' PERI (12

First dass lastly alleges that Anmerican's discount contracts tying
discounts to the use of Sabre violate 14 (FR §§255.8 (c) and (d), which
provide as follows:

(c) DN systemowner nmay require use of its systemby
the subscriber in any sale of its air transportation
services.

(d N systemowner nay require that a travel agent
use or subscribe to its system as a condition for the



receipt of any commission for the sale of its air
transportation services.

Ay violation of 14 (FR Part 255, the Departnent's (5 regulations, is a
violation of 49 US.C §41712, which prohibits unfair and deceptive
practices and unfair nethods of conpetition in air transportation and
its sale.

C. Request for Relief

First dass asks the Ikpartnent to institute an enforcenent action
against both American and Sabre, order Anerican and Sabre to pay danages
caused by the actions described in the conplaint, order Anerican and
Sabre to pay exenplary and punitive danmages for the actions described in
the conplaint, enter a declaration interpreting the Sabre agreenent and
declaring rights and other legal relations under the agreenent, and
order American and Sabre to pay First (Jass's reasonable and necessary
attorneys fees incurred in bringing the conplaint.

Finally, First (Qass clains that it was forced to file its conplaint
with the Departnent because the lhited States Dstrict (oburt for the
Nrthern Ostrict of Texas had held that First ass's state lawclains
for danmages and injunctive relief were preenpted by the Arline
[eregulation Act of 1978 ("ADA'), 49 US.C §41713(b)(1). See Lyn-Lea
Travel Corp. v. American Airlines, Inc.,, 1997 US. Dst. LEXIS 21119 (ND
Tex., Dec. 2, 1997), affd, 139 F.3d 899 (5th Gr. 1998). First dass
requests an exanination by the Departnent of the scope of preenption of
its state lawclains.

The Answer

American and Sabre deny that they have violated 14 (FR Part 255 or 49
US. C §41712. They assert that First dass is essentially conplaining
about two wdespread industry practices that the Departnent has
considered and decided not to prohibit: the use of productivity pricing
and the linmted distribution of fares that are not commonly available.
They characterize First (ass’s conplaint as an attenpt to relitigate



the commercial dispute that was properly before the Dstrict (ourt.3
They deny that First dass’s allegations of interference with respect to
Mndoza O 1lon, Mry Earhart, and Sensornedics have any relevance to 14
(FR Part 255 or 49 US.C §41712. They assert that First ass knew
during negotiations that Anerican might adjust its donestic commissions;
they also assert that Anerican was under no contractual or other legal
obligation to maintain its commssion schedule unchanged or disclose
that it was considering naking changes.

The Court Decisions

In its conplaint filed in the Uiited States Dstrict Court for the
Nrthern Ostrict of Texas, First ass alleged breach of contract,
tortious interference wth business relationships, fraud, and viol ations
of the Texas Dkceptive Trade Practices At ("DIPA). Al of the
allegations, except for those of tortious interference, stemmed from
Anerican's inplenentation of the fee cap on commissions paid to travel
agents. Anerican counterclained alleging that First (dass breached the
Sabre agreenent.

The court granted summary judgnent for Anerican and Sabre, which was
affirned on appeal wthout opinion, on all of First ass's clains,
concluding that there was insufficient evidence to support First ass's
breach of contract claim and that all the remaining clains were
preenpted by the ADA  See Lyn-Lea Travel Corp. v. American Airlines, Inc., 1997
us. DOst. LEXIS 21119 (ND Tex., Iec. 2, 1997), affd, 139 F.3d 899
(5th Gr. 1998). In a later order, the court also dismissed First

3 Anerican and Sabre state that the facts set forth in Appendi x A of
their answer “are drawn fromthe Ostrict ourt’s Mnorandum (bini on and
Qder and the Statenent of Uhdisputed Facts that American and [Sabre]
submtted to the Dstrict Court in comnection with their Mtion for
Summary Judgnent.” Answer at 6. According to Appendix A “[i]n Mrch
1996, [Sabre] sent [First ass] an invoice for $20,982.02 for anounts
oved under the [Sabre] Agreement. [First (ass] failed and refused to
pay the invoice. In June 1996, after providing notice and an
opportunity to cure, [Sabre] properly terminated the subscriber
contract. [Sabre] then notified [First (ass] that, as a result of
[First dass’s] default, [First (dass] owed actual damages to [Sabre]
for breach of the subscriber agreenent.” Id. at 28.



dass's fraudulent inducenent defense to the counterclaimon the basis
of ADA preenption, leaving only the breach of contract counterclaim
against First (ass. See Lyn-Lea Travel Corp. v. American Airlines, Inc., 1999

US. Ost. LEXIS 15191 (ND Tex., Sept. 29, 1999). 'The parties settled
the counterclaim

Gh appeal, the Fifth Grcuit again concluded that First ass's
affirmative state law clains were preenpted, but it found that First
dass's defense to the breach of contract claimwas not. See Lyn-Lea
Travel Corp. v. American Airlines, Inc., 283 F.3d 282 (5th Gr.), cert. denied,
537 US. 1044 (2002).

Relevant Law

First Qass's conplaint raises issues under both the federal aviation
statutes and the [epartnent's (S regulations—specifically, 49 US.C
§§41712 and 41713 and 14 (FR §§255.8(b), (c), and (d).

Section 41712 authorizes the IDEpartnent to take enforcenent action
against an air carrier, foreign air carrier, or ticket agent for
engaging in unfair and deceptive practices and unfair nethods of
conpetition in air transportation or in the sale of air transportation

Section 41713 prohibits states fromregulating an air carrier's rates,
routes, or services. Specifically relating to the issue of preenption,
the statute provides as follows:

Except as provided in this subsection, a State . . . may
not enact or enforce a law regulation, or other provision
having the force and effect of law related to a price,
route, or service of an air carrier that may provide air
transportation under this subpart.

49 US.C §41713(b) (1).

The Departnent's (5 regulations that were in effect at all tines
relevant to the conplaint proscribed a range of practices in order to
pronote airline conpetition and provide consuners wth accurate,
unbi ased fare information.  See 14 (FR Part 255.  Section 255.8(b)
proscribed practices by air carrier systemowners that inpede the usage
of multiple Ss by travel agent subscribers. Section 255.8(c)



prohibited air carrier system owners from using contractual provisions
that require travel agent subscribers to use their (5 when selling
their air transportation services.  Section 255.8(d) prohibited air
carrier systemowners fromrequiring the use of their (B as a condition
for the receipt of a conmssion on the sale of their air transportation
services. The Departnent adopted these (OS5 regulations pursuant to its
authority under 49 US. C 841712 to define wunfair and deceptive
practices and unfair nethods of conpetition; therefore, any violation of
14 (FR Part 255 would also be an unfair nethod of conpetition or an
unfair or deceptive practice that violates Section 41712.

Asignificant devel opnent has occurred since the pleadings in this case
vere filed The Departnent recently conpleted a major rulenaking
proceeding in vhich it revisited the (5 rule to determine whether, in
light of ongoing devel opnents in the distribution of air transportation,
the (5 regulations should continue in effect, and if so, in what form
See Final Rule, Computer Reservations System (CRS) Regulations, 14 (FR Part
255 [Dockets Nos. BI-97-2881, BI1-97-3014, BI-98-4775, and (BI-99-
5888], RIN 2105-AC 65, 69 Fed. Reg. 976 et seq. (January 7, 2004). The
[epartnent concluded that nwst of the (B regulations, including all
regulations concerning the relationship between a systemand its travel-
agent subscribers, should expire as of January 31, 2004. The
prohibition of display bias and the prohibition of wunreasonably
restrictive requirenents in contracts between systens and airlines are
to continue in effect for a transition period of six nonths, and on July
31, 2004, they are to expire. Anong the nyriad factors contributing to
the Departnent’s decision to let the regulations expire was the change
in S ownership: not only does Anerican no longer have any ownership
interest in Sabre, but all US. airlines that once held ownership
interests in (Bs have divested themselves of their interests.
Anerican, for exanple, no longer has the sane pover it had as Sabre’s
owter to use that (S to prejudice the conpetitive positions of its
airline conpetitors.

Disposition and Analysis

W find on the basis of the pleadings that First dass’s allegations
that Anerican and Sabre have violated the (5 rule have no nerit.
Furthernore, even if we could not make this finding given that the
[epartnent has now determined that the regulations at issue are no
longer necessary to prevent unfair or deceptive practices or unfair
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nethods of conpetition in the sale of air transportation, instituting an
enforcenent proceeding to determine whether Anerican and Sabre’s past
conduct violated these regulations would provide little if any public
berefit.

First (dass misconstrues both Section 5 of the Sabre agreenent and the
[epartnent's 05 rule. Section 5 is a productivity pricing provision,
not a liquidated danages provision as First (dass alleges. See 57 Fed.
Reg. 43826-27. For one thing 14 (FR §255.8(b) did not prohibit
liquidated danages provisions. For another, unlike the mnini num use
provisions that §255.8(b) did prohibit, Section 5 does not nmake failure
to achieve a mnininum booking level a breach of contract. Rather,
Section 5 nakes the availability of discounted rates dependent on the
achi evenent of certain levels of booking.

A for the discounted fares offered in corporate agreenents, the
contracts First (ass conplains of that require the use of Sabre are
between a system owner and consuners (i.e., the corporations) and not
between a system owner and a subscriber (ie, First ass). Such
contracts did not invoke the provisions of 14 (FR §255.8(c), nor did
that section apply to contracts between First (dass and the corporations
that have discount agreenents with Anerican. That section only applied
to contracts between a system owner (ie., at the tine covered by the
conplaint, Anerican) and a subscriber (i.e., First ass) that require
the use of the system by the subscriber in any sale of its air
transportation services. The Sabre agreenent at issue does not require
First dass to use Sabre to purchase Amwrican air transportation
services, a requirenent that would have violated 14 (FR §255.8(c).
First dass was free to purchase Anerican air transportation services
through Wrl dspan without running afoul of the Sabre agreenent.

Simlarly, there was no violation of 14 (FR §255.8(d) here. That
provision prohibited a system owner from requiring travel agents to
subscribe to its systemfor the receipt of any conmssion for the sale
of its air transportation services. The conplaint here is based on
contracts between Anerican and corporate custoners, contracts to which
First dass is not a party. The obligation conplained of to book
reservations on Sabre runs to the corporate custoners, and not to any
travel agent subscriber, ie. First ass. (ontracts between the
corporate custoners and First (dass would not make the corporation's
contracts wth Amwrican illegal under 14 (FR §255.8(d). Iere, First
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dass was free to book Anerican’s services through Wrldspan, and it
would receive a commission from American for doing so. Qily an
agreenent that refused commissions for booking Anmerican air
transportation services on any (S other than Sabre would have violated
14 (FR §255.8(d). That is not the case here.

Mside from finding no violations of the (RS regulations, we find no
independent violations of 49 US.C §41712, nor has First ass alleged
any. Thus, the only remaining issue raised in First ass's conplaint
is the scope of ADA pre-enption. This Departnent, however, does not
have authority to review court decisions, so we cannot grant the
declaratory relief First (Qdass has requested.

Finally, we grant Anerican and Sabre's mnotion under 14 (IR §302.39 for
confidential treatnent of certain proprietary and commercially sensitive
informtion. Nne of the materials deened "sensitive" by Anerican and
Sabre was necessary for us to reach our decision in this case. Thus,
there is no reason to disturb the order entered by the lhited States
Ostrict Court for the NMNrthern DOstrict of Texas granting
confidentiality to the subject mnaterials. See Qder Regarding
Plaintiff's Mtion to Show Giuse and [efendant's Mtion for Protective
Qder, Gvil Action M. 3:96-C~-20668-BC (ND Tex., June 3, 1998).

ACCORDINGLY, we disniss the conplaint of Lyn-Lea Travel Corp. d/b/a
First ass International Travel Mnagenent against Anmerican Arlines,
Inc. and The SABRE G oup, Inc. in Dbcket 98-3863.

This order is issued under authority assigned in 14 (FR §302.406 and
shall be effective as the final action of the Departnent 30 days after
service.

Samuel Podberesky

Mssistant Ceneral (bunsel for

Avi ation Enforcenent and
Proceedi ngs

(SEAL)
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An electronic version of this document is available
on the World Wide Web at
http.//dms.dot.gov/reports/reports_aviation.asp.



